

LITERATURE REVIEW

Elder Justice Decision-Making Capacity Symposium

Tuesday, April 19, 2022 to Thursday, April 21, 2022

Contact Us elder.justice@usdoj.gov www.elderjustice.gov





Table of Contents

Basic Information	
Cognitive Aging	2
Dementia	
Dementia, Cognition, and Elder Abuse	2
Dementia is Not Equivalent to Incapacity	5
Neuroscience, Capacity & the Law	5
Guardianship	5
Supported Decision Making (Older Adults)	7
Older Adults as Witnesses in the Justice System	8
Types of Decision-Making Capacity	g
Capacity for Admission to Long-Term Care Facilities	g
Capacity to Live Independently	g
Capacity to Refuse Services (APS)	11
Contractual Capacity	11
Financial Capacity	11
Medical Decision Making Capacity	13
Sexual Consent Capacity	13
Testamentary Capacity	14
Testimonial Capacity	15
Assessing Decision-Making Capacity	15
Forensic Psychology	15
Clinician Inter-Rater Reliability	15







DECISION-MAKING CAPACITY

SYMPOSIUM

Assessing Capacity	15
The Need for Data on Capacity Assessment	20
Training for Clinicians in Decisional Capacity	20
Capacity Assessment Instruments	21
The Need for the Development of Capacity Assessment Instruments	22
Undue Influence	23
Literature Review by Profession	23
Adult Protective Services	23
Civil Attorneys	24
Criminal Attorneys	24
Judges	25
Law Enforcement	26
Medical/Physicians	26





Basic Information

Cognitive Aging

Belbase, A., & Sanzenbacher, G. T. (2016). Cognitive aging: A primer. Center for Retirement Research at Boston College Research Brief, (16-17), 1-9.

National Institute of Medicine (2015). Cognitive Aging: Progress in Understanding and Opportunities for Action. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/21693.

Salthouse, T. (2012). Consequences of age-related cognitive declines. Annual review of psychology, 63, 201-226.

Spreng, N. R., Ebner, N. C., Levin, B. E., & Turner, G. R. (2020). Aging and Financial Exploitation Risk. In R. M. Factora (ed.), Aging and Money: Reducing Risk of Financial Exploitation and Protecting Financial Resources (2nd ed.) (pp. 55-73). Chaum, Switzerland: Springer.

Dementia

Karlawish, J. (2021). The Problem of Alzheimer's: How Science, Culture, and Politics Turned a Rare Disease Into a Crisis and What We Can Do About It. Macmillan.

Dementia, Cognition, and Elder Abuse

Dong, X., Chen, R., & Simon, M. A. (2014). Elder abuse and dementia: a review of the research and health policy. Health Affairs, 33(4), 642-649.

Dong, X., Simon, M., Rajan, K., & Evans, D. A. (2011). Association of cognitive function and risk for elder abuse in a community-dwelling population. Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 32(3), 209-215.

Fang, B., & Yan, E. (2018). Abuse of older persons with dementia: a review of the literature. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 19(2), 127-147.





Duke Han, S., Olsen, B. J., & Mosqueda, L. A. (2019). Elder abuse identification and intervention. In Handbook on the Neuropsychology of Aging and Dementia (pp. 197-203). Springer, Cham.

Dementia is Not Equivalent to Incapacity

Han, S. D., Boyle, P. A., James, B. D., Yu, L., Barnes, L. L., & Bennett, D. A. (2016). Discrepancies between cognition and decision making in older adults. Aging clinical and experimental research, 28(1), 99-108.

Lonie, J. (2019). The Cognitive Mechanics of Elder Abuse. Elder L. Rev., 12, xxxix.

Individuals' Awareness of a Dementia Diagnosis (ASPE)

Implications of Alternative Methods of Identifying Populations with Dementia Issue Brief (ASPE)

Neuroscience, Capacity & the Law

Grey, B. J. (2018). Aging in the 21st century: Using neuroscience to assess competency in guardianships. Wis. L. Rev., 735.

Humphreys, K. (2019). Networking: Translating Neuroscience to Public Policy. Neuron, 103(6), 964-966.

Sapolsky, R. M (2021). Neuroscience and the Law. U. St. Thomas J.L. & Pub. Policy, 15, 138-161.

Shen, F. X. (2021). Toward a Definition of "Neurolaw". University of St. Thomas Journal of Law and Public Policy, 15(1), 174.

Wolf, A. B., & Felsen, G. (2019). How public health policy can be informed by neuroscience. Behavioural Public Policy, 3(1), 37-46.

Guardianship

Anetzberger, G. J., & Thurston, M. R. (2021). <u>Addressing abuse by guardians</u>: The role of adult protective services, law enforcement, and the courts. Fourth National Guardianship Summit.





Balch Hurme, S. (2017). Fundamental of Guardianship: What every Guardian should Know (available for purchase here). Washington, DC: American Bar Association.

Boyer, E., & Morgan, R (2021). <u>Rights Based Guardianships: A Survey of Post Appointment Issues for</u> Individuals Under Guardianship. Fourth National Guardianship Summit.

Cassidy, J. (2015). Restoration of rights in the termination of adult guardianship. Elder LJ, 23, 83.

Demakis, G. J. (2013). State statutory definitions of civil incompetency/incapacity: Issues for psychologists. Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 19(3), 331.

Demakis, G. J., Gallimore, M. G., Strzelecki, S., & Knuth, S. B. (2021). Civil competency restoration: Initial findings from psychological-based civil competency evaluations. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice.

Diller, R., & Salzman, L. (2021). Stripped of Funds, Stripped of Rights: A Critique of Guardianship as a Remedy for Elder Financial Harm. University of Pennsylvania Journal of Law and Social Change, 24(2), 149.

Drogin, E. Y., & Barrett, C. L. (2010). Evaluation for guardianship. Oxford University Press.

Frolik, L. (1999). Science, common sense, and the determination of mental capacity. Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 5(1), 41.

Hirschel, A., & Smetanka, L. (2018). <u>The Use and Misuse of Guardianship by Hospitals and Nursing Homes</u>. Fourth National Guardianship Summit.

McSwiggan, S., Meares, S., & Porter, M. (2016). Decision-making capacity evaluation in adult guardianship: a systematic review. International psychogeriatrics, 28(3), 373-384.

Moye, J., & Naik, A. D. (2011). Preserving rights for individuals facing guardianship. Jama, 305(9), 936-937.





Moye, J., Wood, S., Edelstein, B., Armesto, J. C., Bower, E. H., Harrison, J. A., & Wood, E. (2007). Clinical evidence in guardianship of older adults is inadequate: Findings from a tri-state study. The Gerontologist, 47(5), 604-612.

Rothke, S. E., Demakis, G. J., & Amsbaugh, H. M. (2019). State statutes regarding the role of psychologists in performing capacity evaluations for guardianship determinations. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 50(4), 228.

Sabatino, C. P., & Basingelr, J. S. L. (2000). Competency: Reforming Our Legal Fictions. Journal of Mental Health and Aging, 6(0), 2.

Supported Decision Making (Older Adults)

Costanzo, C., Glen, Hon. K., & Krieger, A. (2021). <u>Supported Decision-Making: Lessons from Pilot Projects</u>. Fourth National Guardianship Summit.

Diller, R. (2016). Legal capacity for all: Including older persons in the shift from adult guardianship to supported decision-making. Fordham Urb. LJ, 43, 495.

Diller, R., & Whitlatch, M. (2021). <u>Supported Decision-Making: Potential and Challenges for Older Persons</u>. Fourth National Guardianship Summit.

Glen, K. B. (2017). Introducing a New Human Right: Learning from Others, Bringing Legal Capacity Home. Colum. Hum. Rts. L. Rev., 49, 1.

Kohn, N. A. (2021). Legislating Supported Decision-Making. Harvard Journal on Legislation.

Kohn, N. A., Blumenthal, J. A., & Campbell, A. T. (2012). Supported decision-making: A viable alternative to guardianship. Penn St. L. Rev., 117, 1111.

Pogach, D. (2020). Supported Decision-Making for Older Adults with Age-Related Cognitive Decline. Generations, 43(4), 87-93.

Strickland, K., Bail, K., Cope, S., Turner, M., & Moss, C. (2021). Supported decision-making to assist older persons experiencing elder abuse: An integrative review. Collegian.





Older Adults as Witnesses in the Justice System

Arias, J. J., & Flicker, L. S. (2020). A Matter of Intent: A Social Obligation to Improve Criminal Procedures for Individuals with Dementia. The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 48(2), 318-327.

Clarke, S., Forell, S., & Gray, A. (2009). Cognitive impairment, legal need and access to justice. Justice Issues, (10), 1-14.

Corcoran, A. (2017). The Primary Purpose for Admitting Hearsay over Confrontation Challenges in Elder Abuse Cases: A Framework for Bringing Unavailability Concerns into the Light in a Post-Crawford World. Elder Law Journal, 25, 161.

Davies, G., & Robertson, N. (2014). The Older Witness in Court: An International Perspective. In The elderly eyewitness in court (pp. 350-376). Psychology Press.

Doron, I., Werner, P., Spanier, B., & Lazar, O. (2019). Court rulings involving individuals with dementia in Israel: A qualitative perspective. Dementia, 18(7-8), 2576-2595.

Grossman, K. (2018). What Will It Take: Examining the Use of Preliminary Hearing Testimony Where Victims are Unavailable Due to Mental Illness Stemming from Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault. N. Ill. UL Rev., 39, 140.

Love, H. (2019). Seniors on the Stand: Accommodating Older Witnesses in Adversarial Trials. Can. B. Rev., 97, 240.

Love, H. (2015). Aging witnesses: Exploring difference, inspiring change. The International Journal of Evidence & Proof, 19(4), 210-227.

Jones & Elliott (2005). Capacity to give evidence in court: issues that may arise when a client with dementia is a victim of crime. Psychiatric Bulletin, 29, 324-326





Murphy, A. M. (2012). Vanishing Point: Alzheimer's Disease and its Challenges to the Federal Rules of Evidence. Mich. St. L. Rev., 1245.

Wiglesworth, A., & Mosqueda, L. (2011). People with dementia as witnesses to emotional events. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.

Young, J. A., Lind, C., Orange, J. B., & Savundranayagam, M. Y. (2019). Expanding current understandings of epistemic injustice and dementia: Learning from stigma theory. Journal of aging studies, 48, 76-84.

Ziv, N. (2007). Witnesses with mental disabilities: Accommodations and the search for truth. Disability Studies Quarterly, 27(4).

Types of Decision-Making Capacity

Capacity for Admission to Long-Term Care Facilities Assessing Capacity for Admission to Long-Term Care Homes

Capacity to Live Independently

Camp, M. E., & Cole, A. (2019). The Capacity to Live Independently. In Psychiatric Ethics in Late-Life Patients (pp. 37-51). Springer, Cham.

Cohen, D., Schultz, I. Z., Sepehry, A. A., & Stewart, A. M. (2018). Assessment of competence in older adults. In Handbook of rehabilitation in older adults (pp. 433-459). Springer, Cham.

Coyne, R., & AGACNP-BC, W. K. (2019). The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) scale. Gerontologist, 9(3), 179-186.





Demakis, G. J. (2019). Examination of Select Psychometric Characteristics of Independent Living Scales Factors. Psychological Injury and Law, 12(3), 257-265.

Duke, J. (1997). A national study of involuntary protective services to adult protective services clients. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 9(1), 51-68.

Graf, C. (2008). The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. AJN The American Journal of Nursing, 108(4), 52-62.

Lai, J. M., Gill, T. M., Cooney, L. M., Bradley, E. H., Hawkins, K. A., & Karlawish, J. H. (2008). Everyday decision-making ability in older persons with cognitive impairment. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 16(8), 693-696.

Lai, J. M., & Karlawish, J. (2007). Assessing the capacity to make everyday decisions: a guide for clinicians and an agenda for future research. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry, 15(2), 101-111.

Naik, A. D. (2017). Evaluating Capacity for Safe and Independent Living Among Vulnerable Older Adults. In Ethical Considerations and Challenges in Geriatrics (pp. 9-21). Springer, Cham.

Naik, A. D., Teal, C. R., Pavlik, V. N., Dyer, C. B., & McCullough, L. B. (2008). Conceptual challenges and practical approaches to screening capacity for self-care and protection in vulnerable older adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 56, S266-S270.

Skelton, F., Kunik, M. E., Regev, T., & Naik, A. D. (2010). Determining if an older adult can make and execute decisions to live safely at home: a capacity assessment and intervention model. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics, 50(3), 300-305.

Usher, R., & Stapleton, T. (2021). Assessment of older adults' decision-making capacity in relation to independent living: A scoping review. Health & Social Care in the Community.





Capacity to Refuse Services (APS)

Halphen, J. M., Dyer, C. B., Lee, J. L., Reyes-Ortiz, C. A., Murdock, C. C., Hiner, J. A., & Burnett, J. (2020). Capacity evaluations for adult protective services: Videoconference or in-person interviews. Journal of elder abuse & neglect, 32(2), 121-133.

Contractual Capacity

Gan, O. (2017). The Many Faces of Contractual Consent. Drake L. Rev., 65, 615.

Ryan-Morgan, T., & Bond, A. (2019). Capacity to enter into a sexual relationship/capacity to marry. In Mental Capacity Casebook: Clinical Assessment and Legal Commentary (pp. 114-144). Routledge.

Financial Capacity

Black, A. C., McMahon, T. J., Rosenheck, R. A., Ball, S. A., Ries, R. K., Ames, D., & Rosen, M. I. (2014). Development of the clinician assessment of financial incapability (CAFI). Psychiatry research, 215(3), 784-789.

Cohen, D., Schultz, I. Z., Sepehry, A. A., & Stewart, A. M. (2018). Assessment of competence in older adults. In Handbook of rehabilitation in older adults (pp. 433-459). Springer, Cham.

Gerstenecker, A., Eakin, A., Triebel, K., Martin, R., Swenson-Dravis, D., Petersen, R. C., & Marson, D. (2016). Age and education corrected older adult normative data for a short form version of the Financial Capacity Instrument. Psychological assessment, 28(6), 737.

Kershaw, M. M., & Webber, L. S. (2008). Assessment of financial competence. Psychiatry, psychology and Law, 15(1), 40-55.

Lazar, C. M., Black, A. C., McMahon, T. J., Rosenheck, R. A., Ries, R., Ames, D., & Rosen, M. I. (2016). All-data approach to assessing financial capability in people with psychiatric disabilities. Psychological assessment, 28(4), 362.





Lichtenberg, P. A., Campbell, R., Hall, L., & Gross, E. Z. (2020). Context matters: Financial, psychological, and relationship insecurity around personal finance is associated with financial exploitation. The Gerontologist, 60(6), 1040-1049.

Lichtenberg, P. A., Gross, E., & Ficker, L. J. (2020). Quantifying risk of financial incapacity and financial exploitation in community-dwelling older adults: Utility of a scoring system for the Lichtenberg Financial Decision-Making Rating Scale. Clinical gerontologist, 43(3), 266-280.

Lichtenberg, P. A., Stoltman, J., Ficker, L. J., Iris, M., & Mast, B. (2015). A person-centered approach to financial capacity assessment: Preliminary development of a new rating scale. Clinical gerontologist, 38(1), 49-67.

Lichtenberg, P. A., Tocco, M., Campbell, R., & Shipp, M. (2021). Implementation of financial decision making scales into statewide APS practice: the Michigan experience. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 33(1), 33-46.

MacLeod, S., Musich, S., Hawkins, K., & Armstrong, D. G. (2017). The growing need for resources to help older adults manage their financial and healthcare choices. BMC geriatrics, 17(1), 1-9.

Marroni, S. P., Radaelli, G., Silva, I. G. D., & Portuguez, M. W. (2017). Instruments for evaluating financial management capacity among the elderly: an integrative literature review. Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia, 20, 582-593.

Marson, D. (2016). Conceptual models and guidelines for clinical assessment of financial capacity. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 31(6), 541-553.

Pinsker, D. M., Pachana, N. A., Wilson, J., Tilse, C., & Byrne, G. J. (2010). Financial capacity in older adults: A review of clinical assessment approaches and considerations. Clinical Gerontologist, 33(4), 332-346.

Swanson, C. J., Marson, D. C., McPherson, T., Gerstenecker, A., & Logovinsky, V. (2017). [P1–070]: The Financial Capacity Instrument-Short form is a novel, performance-based measure that may help differentiaite mild cognitive impairment and mild dementia due to Alzheimer's disease populations in clinical trials. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 13(7S_Part_5), P264-P265.





Wood, S., & Lichtenberg, P. A. (2017). Financial capacity and financial exploitation of older adults: Research findings, policy recommendations and clinical implications. Clinical Gerontologist, 40(1), 3-13.

Medical Decision Making Capacity

Braun, M., Gurrera, R., Karel, M., Armesto, J., & Moye, J. (2009). Are clinicians ever biased in their judgments of the capacity of older adults to make medical decisions?. Generations, 33(1), 78-81.

Institute of Medicine (2015). <u>Dying in America</u>: Improving Quality and Honoring Individual Preferences Near the End of Life. Washington, DC:

Kapp, M. B., & Mossman, D. (1996). Measuring decisional capacity: Cautions on the construction of a" capacimeter".

Santos, E. J., & Nichols-Hadeed, C. (2017). Medical Decision-Making Capacity and Ethical Considerations. In X. Dong (ed.), Elder Abuse: Research, Practice, and Policy (pp. 229-246). Springer, Cham.

Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy: <u>Decision-making Capacity</u> (2020)

Tannou, T., Koeberlé, S., Aubry, R., & Haffen, E. (2020). How does decisional capacity evolve with normal cognitive aging: systematic review of the literature. European geriatric medicine, 11(1), 117-129.

Wright, M. S. (2019). Dementia, autonomy, and supported healthcare decisionmaking. Md. L. Rev., 79, 257.

Sexual Consent Capacity

Giannouli, V. (2018). Elder Abuse and Consent Capacity: Our Collective Nemesis?. In Social, psychological, and forensic perspectives on sexual abuse (pp. 207-221). IGI Global.

Graf, A. S., & Johnson, V. (2021). Describing the "gray" area of consent: A comparison of sexual consent understanding across the adult lifespan. The Journal of Sex Research, 58(4), 448-461.





Hillman, J. (2017). Sexual consent capacity: Ethical issues and challenges in long-term care. Clinical Gerontologist, 40(1), 43-50.

Syme, M. L., & Steele, D. (2016). Sexual consent capacity assessment with older adults. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 31(6), 495-505.

Testamentary Capacity

Cohen, D., Sepehry, A. A., & Schultz, I. Z. (2020). Forensic Neuropsychological Aspects of Competency Evaluations: Financial and Legal Competency in Older Adults. Psychological Injury and Law, 13(1), 19-32.

Marson, D. C., Huthwaite, J. S., & Herbert, K. (2004). Testamentary capacity and undue influence in the elderly: A jurisprudent therapy perspective. Law & Psychol. Rev., 28, 71.

Mart, E. G., & Alban, A. D. (2011). The practical assessment of testamentary capacity and undue influence in the elderly. Sarasota, FL: Professional Resource Press.

Purser, K. (2015). Assessing Testamentary Capacity in the 21st Century: Is Banks v Goodfellow Still Relevent. UNSWLJ, 38, 854.

Purser, K. J., & Rosenfeld, T. (2014). Evaluation of legal capacity by doctors and lawyers: the need for collaborative assessment. The Medical journal of Australia, 201(8), 483-485.

Purser, K., & Sullivan, K. (2019). Capacity assessment and estate planning-the therapeutic importance of the individual. International journal of law and psychiatry, 64, 88-98.

Roche, A. I. (2019). Testing for testamentary capacity in the older adult: A model of ethical considerations for the clinical neuropsychologist. Frontiers in psychology, 10, 1905.

Toomey, J. (2021). How to End Our Stories: A Study of The Perspectives of Seniors on Dementia and Decisionmaking. Elder Law Journal, 29, 1.

Voskou, P., Douzenis, A., Economou, A., & Papageorgiou, S. G. (2018). Testamentary capacity assessment: Legal, medical, and neuropsychological issues. Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology, 31(1), 3-12.





Testimonial Capacity

Moteller, R. P. (2020). The Competency of Witnesses. In McCormick On Evidence 8th Edition.

Otto, R. K., Sadoff, R. L., & Fanniff, A. M. (2011). Testimonial capacity. Handbook of Forensic Assessment: Psychological and Psychiatric Perspectives, 187-203.

Assessing Decision-Making Capacity

Forensic Psychology

Greenberg, S. A., & Shuman, D. W. (2007). When worlds collide: Therapeutic and forensic roles.

Greenberg, S. A., & Shuman, D. W. (1997). Irreconcilable conflict between therapeutic and forensic roles. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 28(1), 50.

Otto, R. K., & Heilbrun, K. (2002). The practice of forensic psychology: A look toward the future in light of the past. American Psychologist, 57(1), 5.

Clinician Inter-Rater Reliability

Marson, D. C., McInturff, B., Hawkins, L., Bartolucci, A., & Harrell, L. E. (1997). Consistency of physician judgments of capacity to consent in mild Alzheimer's disease. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 45(4), 453-457.

Assessing Capacity

American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law (2005). <u>Ethics Guidelines for the Practice of Forensic Psychiatry</u>





American Psychological Association (2014). Guidelines for Psychological Practice with Older Adults. American Psychologist, 69(1), 34–65. DOI: 10.1037/a0035063

American Psychological Association (2013). Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychology

APA/ABA (2008). Assessment of Older Adults with Diminished Capacity: A Handbook for Psychologists.

Baker, R. R., Lichtenberg, P. A., & Moye, J. (1998). A practice guideline for assessment of competency and capacity of the older adult. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 29(2), 149.

Barrash, J. (2018). Competency and capacity in the aging adult. In M. Rizzo, S. Anderson, & B. Fritzsch (Eds.), The Wiley handbook on the aging mind and brain (pp. 723–741). Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118772034.ch34

Barry, C., & Docherty, M. (2018). Assessment of mental capacity and decision-making. Medicine, 46(7), 405-410.

Block, C. K., Johnson-Greene, D., Pliskin, N., & Boake, C. (2017). Discriminating cognitive screening and cognitive testing from neuropsychological assessment: implications for professional practice. The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 31(3), 487-500.

Bruine de Bruin, W., Parker, A. M., & Fischhoff, B. (2020). Decision-making competence: more than intelligence?. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 29(2), 186-192.

Burnett, J., Dyer, C. B., Clark, L. E., & Halphen, J. M. (2019). A statewide elder mistreatment virtual assessment program: Preliminary data. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 67(1), 151-155.

Bush, S. S., & Heck, A. L. (2018). Forensic Geropsychology: Practice Essentials. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Cohen, D., Schultz, I. Z., Sepehry, A. A., & Stewart, A. M. (2018). Assessment of competence in older adults. In Handbook of rehabilitation in older adults (pp. 433-459). Springer, Cham.

Corrigan, M. (2019). Factors Associated with Decision Making Capacity in Older Adults (Doctoral dissertation, School of Psychology, Trinity College Dublin).





Demakis, G. J. (Ed.). (2012). Civil capacities in clinical neuropsychology: research findings and practical applications. Oxford University Press.

Demakis, G. J. (2013). Neuropsychological evaluation of decision-making capacity in older adults. Psychological Injury and Law, 6(1), 41-50.

Drogin, E. Y., & Barrett, C. L. (2010). Evaluation for guardianship. Oxford University Press.

Falk, E., & Hoffman, N. (2014). The role of capacity assessments in elder abuse investigations and guardianships. Clinics in geriatric medicine, 30(4), 851-868.

Ganzini, L., Volicer, L., Nelson, W., & Derse, A. (2003). Pitfalls in assessment of decision-making capacity. Psychosomatics, 44(3), 237-243.

Ganzini, L., Volicer, L., Nelson, W. A., Fox, E., & Derse, A. R. (2005). Ten myths about decision-making capacity. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 6(3), S100-S104.

Hall, M. (2012). Mental capacity in the (civil) law: Capacity, autonomy, and vulnerability. McGill Law Journal/Revue de droit de McGill, 58(1), 61-94.

Halphen, J. M., Solis, C. F., & Burnett, J. (2021). A statewide elder mistreatment virtual assessment program: Legal, ethical, and practical issues. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 69(10), 2759-2765.

Jamieson, G. (2019). Decision-making capacity and consent in the older adult. In *Advanced Age Geriatric Care* (pp. 25-32). Springer, Cham.

Kapp, M. B. (2015). Evaluating decision making capacity in older individuals: does the law give a clue?. Laws, 4(2), 164-172.

Karlawish, J. (2008). Measuring decision-making capacity in cognitively impaired individuals. Neurosignals, 16(1), 91-98.

Klein, E., & Karlawish, J. (2013). Ethical issues in the neurology of aging and cognitive decline. Handbook of clinical neurology, 118, 233-242.





Lindsey, J. (2020). Competing Professional Knowledge Claims About Mental Capacity in the Court of Protection. Medical law review, 28(1), 1-29.

McPherson, S., & Koltai, D. (2018). A Practical Guide to Geriatric Neuropsychology. Oxford University Press.

Moberg, P. J., & Rick, J. H. (2008). Decision-making capacity and competency in the elderly: a clinical and neuropsychological perspective. NeuroRehabilitation, 23(5), 403-413.

Morgan, J. E., Marcopulos, B. A., & Matusz, E. F. (2019). Capacity evaluations in older adults: Neuropsychological perspectives. In Handbook on the Neuropsychology of Aging and Dementia (pp. 253-261). Springer, Cham.

Moye, J. (2020). Understanding legal and clinical capacities. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Moye, J., Armesto, J. C., & Karel, M. J. (2005). Evaluating capacity of older adults in rehabilitation settings: conceptual models and clinical challenges. Rehabilitation Psychology, 50(3), 207.

Moye, J., & Marson, D. C. (2007). Assessment of decision-making capacity in older adults: an emerging area of practice and research. The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 62(1), P3-P11.

Moye, J., Marson, D. C., & Edelstein, B. (2013). Assessment of capacity in an aging society. American Psychologist, 68(3), 158.

Navarro, A. E. (2019, September). The Assessment of Decisional Capacity in Vulnerable Older Adults. In JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN GERIATRICS SOCIETY (Vol. 67, pp. S595-S595). 111 RIVER ST, HOBOKEN 07030-5774, NJ USA: WILEY.

Navarro (2017) Assessing Decision-Making Capacity in Older Persons: Skills for Elder Justice Professionals (NAPSA).

O'Connor, D. (2010). Personhood and dementia: Toward a relational framework for assessing decisional capacity. The Journal of Mental Health Training, Education and Practice.





O'Connor, D., Isabel Hall, M., & Donnelly, M. (2009). Assessing capacity within a context of abuse or neglect. Journal of elder abuse & neglect, 21(2), 156-169.

Parmar, J., Bremault-Phillips, S., & Charles, L. (2015). The development and implementation of a decision-making capacity assessment model. Canadian Geriatrics Journal, 18(1), 15.

Peisah, C., Sorinmade, O. A., Mitchell, L., & Hertogh, C. M. (2013). Decisional capacity: toward an inclusionary approach. International Psychogeriatrics, 25(10), 1571-1579.

Perry, W., Lacritz, L., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Silver, C., Denney, R. L., Meyers, J., ... & Bondi, M. (2018). Population health solutions for assessing cognitive impairment in geriatric patients. Innovation in Aging, 2(2), igy025.

Pinsker, D. M., Pachana, N. A., Wilson, J., Tilse, C., & Byrne, G. J. (2010). Financial capacity in older adults: A review of clinical assessment approaches and considerations. Clinical Gerontologist, 33(4), 332-346.

Poppe, C., Elger, B. S., Wangmo, T., & Trachsel, M. (2020). Evaluation of decision-making capacity in patients with dementia: challenges and recommendations from a secondary analysis of qualitative interviews. BMC Medical Ethics, 21(1), 1-8.

Purser, K. (2017). Capacity assessment and the law: Problems and solutions. Springer.

Purser, K. J., & Rosenfeld, T. (2014). Evaluation of legal capacity by doctors and lawyers: The need for collaborative assessment. The Medical Journal of Australia, 201(8), 483-485.

Purser, K., & Sullivan, K. (2019). Capacity assessment and estate planning-the therapeutic importance of the individual. International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 64, 88-98.

Qualls, S. H., & Smyer, M. A. (Eds.). (2008). Changes in decision-making capacity in older adults: Assessment and intervention (Vol. 2). John Wiley & Sons.

Ruchinskas, R. A. (2005). Risk Assessment as an Integral Aspect of Capacity Evaluations. Rehabilitation Psychology, 50(3), 197.

Sorrentino, R. (2014). Performing capacity evaluations: what's expected from your consult. Current Psychiatry, 13(1), 41-44.





Sullivan, K. (2004). Neuropsychological assessment of mental capacity. Neuropsychology Review, 14(3), 131-142.

Tannou, T., Koeberlé, S., Aubry, R., & Haffen, E. (2020). How does decisional capacity evolve with normal cognitive aging: systematic review of the literature. European geriatric medicine, 11(1), 117-129.

Whipple, L. J. (2010). Navigating mental capacity assessment. Temp. J. Sci. Tech. & Envtl. L., 29, 369.

Wood, S. (2007). The role of neuropsychological assessment in capacity evaluations. In Qualls, S. H., & Smyer, M. A. (Eds.). (2008). Changes in decision-making capacity in older adults: Assessment and intervention (Vol. 2) (pp. 191-204). John Wiley & Sons.

Wood, S., Bally, K., Cabane, C., Fassbind, P., Jox, R. J., Leyhe, T., ... & Trachsel, M. (2020). Decision-making capacity evaluations: The role of neuropsychological assessment from a multidisciplinary perspective. BMC geriatrics, 20(1), 1-5.

Zehr, M. D. (2012). The assessment of capacity in civil settings. Reporter, 68, Journal of the Missouri Bar, 98.

The Need for Data on Capacity Assessment

Cohen, D., Schultz, I. Z., Sepehry, A. A., & Stewart, A. M. (2018). Assessment of Competence in Older Adults. In Handbook of Rehabilitation in Older Adults (pp. 433-459). Springer, Cham.

Training for Clinicians in Decisional Capacity

Moye, J., Karel, M. J., Stamm, K. E., Qualls, S. H., Segal, D. L., Tazeau, Y. N., & DiGilio, D. A. (2019). Workforce analysis of psychological practice with older adults: Growing crisis requires urgent action. Training and education in Professional Psychology, 13(1), 46.

Strong, J. V., Bamonti, P., Jacobs, M. L., & Moye, J. A. (2019). Capacity assessment training in geropsychology: Creating and evaluating an outpatient capacity clinic to fill a training gap. Gerontology & geriatrics education, 1.





Jessica, V. S., Bamonti, P., Jacobs, M. L., & Moye, J. A. (2021). Capacity assessment training in geropsychology: Creating and evaluating an outpatient capacity clinic to fill a training gap. Gerontology & Geriatrics Education, 42(2), 268-276.

Huh, J. T., Rodriguez, R., Gould, C. E., R. Brunskill, S., Melendez, L., & Kramer, B. J. (2020). Developing a program to increase geropsychology competencies of Veterans Health Administration (VHA) psychologists. Gerontology & geriatrics education, 41(4), 463-479.

Capacity Assessment Instruments

Grisso, T., Appelbaum, P. S., & Hill-Fotouhi, C. (1997). The MacCAT-T: a clinical tool to assess patients' capacities to make treatment decisions. Psychiatr Serv, 48(11), 1415-1419.

Vellinga, A., Smit, J. H., Van Leeuwen, E., Van Tilburg, W., & Jonker, C. (2004). Instruments to assess decision-making capacity: an overview. International Psychogeriatrics, 16(4), 397-419.

Marroni, S. P., Radaelli, G., Silva, I. G. D., & Portuguez, M. W. (2017). Instruments for evaluating financial management capacity among the elderly: an integrative literature review. Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia, 20, 582-593.

Ghesquiere, A. R., McAfee, C., & Burnett, J. (2019). Measures of financial capacity: A review. The Gerontologist, 59(2), e109-e129.

Wesson, J., Clemson, L., Brodaty, H., & Reppermund, S. (2016). Estimating functional cognition in older adults using observational assessments of task performance in complex everyday activities: A systematic review and evaluation of measurement properties. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 68, 335-360.

Dunn, L. B., Nowrangi, M. A., Palmer, B. W., Jeste, D. V., & Saks, E. R. (2006). Assessing decisional capacity for clinical research or treatment: a review of instruments. American Journal of Psychiatry, 163(8), 1323-1334.

Jordan, V. B. (September/October, 2009). Ethical issues with older Adults. The California Psychologist, Ethics Corner, pp. 33-34.





The Need for the Development of Capacity Assessment Instruments

Moye, J., Marson, D. C., & Edelstein, B. (2013). Assessment of capacity in an aging society. American Psychologist, 68(3), 158.

Gerstenecker, A., Eakin, A., Triebel, K., Martin, R., Swenson-Dravis, D., Petersen, R. C., & Marson, D. (2016). Age and education corrected older adult normative data for a short form version of the Financial Capacity Instrument. Psychological assessment, 28(6), 737.

Lonie, J. (2019). The Cognitive Mechanics of Elder Abuse. Elder L. Rev., 12, xxxix.

Sullivan, K. (2004). Neuropsychological assessment of mental capacity. Neuropsychology Review, 14(3), 131-142.

Mullaly, E., Kinsella, G., Berberovic, N., Cohen, Y., Dedda, K., Froud, B., ... & Neath, J. (2007). Assessment of decision-making capacity: Exploration of common practices among neuropsychologists. Australian Psychologist, 42(3), 178-186.

Demakis, G. J. (2013). Neuropsychological evaluation of decision-making capacity in older adults. Psychological Injury and Law, 6(1), 41-50.

Moye, J. (2020). Assessing capacities of older adults: A casebook to guide difficult decisions. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Purser, K., & Sullivan, K. (2019). Capacity assessment and estate planning-the therapeutic importance of the individual. International journal of law and psychiatry, 64, 88-98.

Block, C. K., Johnson-Greene, D., Pliskin, N., & Boake, C. (2017). Discriminating cognitive screening and cognitive testing from neuropsychological assessment: implications for professional practice. The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 31(3), 487-500.

Falk, E., & Hoffman, N. (2014). The role of capacity assessments in elder abuse investigations and guardianships. Clinics in geriatric medicine, 30(4), 851-868.

Morgan, J. E., Marcopulos, B. A., & Matusz, E. F. (2019). Capacity evaluations in older adults: Neuropsychological perspectives. In Handbook on the Neuropsychology of Aging and Dementia (pp. 253-261). Springer, Cham.





Wood, S. (2007). The role of neuropsychological assessment in capacity evaluations. In Qualls, S. H., & Smyer, M. A. (Eds.). (2008). Changes in decision-making capacity in older adults: Assessment and intervention (Vol. 2) (pp. 191-204). John Wiley & Sons.

Wood, S., Bally, K., Cabane, C., Fassbind, P., Jox, R. J., Leyhe, T., ... & Trachsel, M. (2020). Decision-making capacity evaluations: the role of neuropsychological assessment from a multidisciplinary perspective. BMC geriatrics, 20(1), 1-5.

Undue Influence

Plotkin, D. A., Spar, J. E., & Horwitz, H. L. (2016). Assessing Undue Influence. The Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, 44(3), 344-351.

Quinn, M. J. (2010). <u>Undue influence: Definitions and Applications</u> (statutes as of 2010 are in Appendix B). Borchard Foundation Final Report.

Quinn, M. J., Nerenberg, L., Navarro, A. E., & Wilber, K. H. (2017). Developing an undue influence screening tool for Adult Protective Services. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 29(2-3), 157-185.

Wood, S. (2020). Assessment of undue influence. In J. Moye (Ed.), Assessing capacities of older adults: A casebook to guide difficult decisions (pp. 147–162). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000184-007

Literature Review by Profession

Adult Protective Services

Abrams, R. C., Ansell, P., Breckman, R., Karlawish, J., Lachs, M., Holt-Knight, D., ... & LoFaso, V. (2019). The Interview for Decisional Abilities (IDA): a tool to assess the decisional capacity of abused and neglected older adults. Journal of elder abuse & neglect, 31(3), 244-254.





Dong, X., & Gorbien, M. (2006). Decision-making capacity: The core of self-neglect. Journal of elder abuse & neglect, 17(3), 19-36.

APS TARC: Capacity Screening in Adult Protective Services: Guidance and Resources

Civil Attorneys

Brietzke, C. A. (2020). A Primer on Neuropsychological Testing for Elder Law Attorneys. Elder LJ, 28, 221.

Barry, L. (2018). 'He was wearing street clothes, not pyjamas': Common mistakes in lawyers' assessment of legal capacity for vulnerable older clients. Legal Ethics, 21(1), 3-22.

Kozak, B. (2015). The Forgotten Rule of Professional Conduct-Representing a Client with Diminished Capacity. Creighton L. Rev., 49, 827.

Kohn, N. A. (2017). Whom Do You Represent: The Role of Attorneys Representing Individuals with Surrogate Decision Makers. Ct. Rev., 53, 64.

Pietsch, J. (2015). Becoming A" Dementia-Capable" Attorney-Representing Individuals with Dementia. Hawaiian Bar Journal, 19(13), 1-55.

Criminal Attorneys

Aequitas (2017) The Prosecutors' Resource

Fried, A. M., Malemud, F. C., & Ulrey, P. B. (2014). Financial Exploitation: The Legal Perspective. In Aging and Money (pp. 91-107). Humana Press, New York, NY.

Gibson, S. C., & Greene, E. (2013). Assessing knowledge of elder financial abuse: A first step in enhancing prosecutions. Journal of elder abuse & neglect, 25(2), 162-182.





Greenwood, P. (2020). The criminal justice response to elder abuse. In A. Carney (ed.), Elder abuse: Forensic, legal and medical aspects (pp. 241-256). London, UK: Academic Press.

Heisler, C. J. (2017). Elder Abuse Forensics: The Intersection of Law and Science. In Elder Abuse (pp. 387-416). Springer, Cham (pp. 399-404).

Schmidt, S. (2021). All in the Family: Proving the Case of Financial Exploitation in North Dakota's Ageing Population. *NDL Rev.*, *96*, 407.

Ulrey, P. (2017). Prosecuting Elder Abuse: A First-Hand Account. Ct. Rev., 53, 70.

Judges

<u>Judicial Determination of Capacity of Older Adults in Guardianship Proceedings: A Handbook for Judges</u> (ABA/APA)

National Probate Court Standards (2013) (on NCSC website), pp. 56-58

Boyle, S. (2020). Is the wisdom of a person's decision relevant to their capacity to make that decision?. Monash UL Rev., 46, 39.

Boyle, S. (2018). Determining Capacity: How Beneficence Can Operate in an Autonomy-Focused Legal Regime. Elder LJ, 26, 35.

Mosqueda, L., Sivers-Teixeira, T., & Hirst, S. (2017). Recognizing Elder Mistreatment: A Guide for Courts. Ct. Rev., 53, 54.

Banks, P. (2017). Elder Protection Courts: Responding to the Now, Anticipating the Future. Ct. Rev., 53, 62.





Law Enforcement

[dementia] Brown, R. T., Ahalt, C., Steinman, M. A., Kruger, K., & Williams, B. A. (2014). Police on the front line of community geriatric health care: Challenges and opportunities. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 62(11), 2191-2198.

[dementia] Brown, R. T., Ahalt, C., Rivera, J., Stijacic Cenzer, I., Wilhelm, A., & Williams, B. A. (2017). Good cop, better cop: Evaluation of a geriatrics training program for police. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 65(8), 1842-1847.

[dementia] Sun, F., Gao, X., Brown, H., & Winfree Jr, L. T. (2019). Police officer competence in handling Alzheimer's cases: The roles of AD knowledge, beliefs, and exposure. Dementia, 18(2), 674-684.

<u>Working Together</u>: How Community Organizations and First Responders Can Better Serve People Living with Dementia. ACL, NADRC, RTI International

Medical/Physicians

Charles, L., Parmar, J., Brémault-Phillips, S., Dobbs, B., Sacrey, L., & Sluggett, B. (2017). Physician education on decision-making capacity assessment: Current state and future directions. Canadian Family Physician, 63(1), e21-e30.

Matrick, A., Babb, E., & Dinwiddie, S. H. (2021). Assessment of Need for Guardianship: What Is the Role of the Psychiatrist?. Psychiatric Annals, 51(3), 112-117.

Young, G., Douglass, A., & Davison, L. (2018). What do doctors know about assessing decision-making capacity. NZ Med J, 131(1471), 58-71.

